






From: Martin Hearson 
Sent: 09 November 2010 10:50 
To: Andy Wales; Nigel Fairbrass 
Subject: ActionAid tax report - right of reply - by Thursday 11th November 
 

Dear Andy and Nigel, 
 
As you‟re aware, Richard Brooks has been in touch with you on behalf of ActionAid with 
three sets of questions, beginning on 9th July. This is the fourth and final enquiry from 
ActionAid in advance of the publication of our research. In it we set out the provisional 
conclusions we‟ve reached from our research, for you to comment on. 
 
We are publishing a report, in which SABMiller features, discussing the ways in which 
developing countries lose revenue as a result of tax avoidance. Where appropriate, we 
will incorporate your comments from this response and previous emails into our report, 
but if you would also like to send a letter for us to publish alongside the research report 
on ActionAid‟s website, we would be willing to do so. 
 
We need your response by 5pm on Thursday 11th November. 
 
The research has not always been easy because we have not been able to obtain some 
of the most important information that we have asked for, but we have done our best 
to reach fair conclusions based on the evidence we have been able to obtain.  Our 
findings on SABMiller's tax arrangements are summarised below. 
 
Companies involved 
 
Unless otherwise stated, the developing country subsidiaries to which we are referring 
are the following: Accra Breweries Ltd, Zambian Breweries Plc, National Breweries plc, 
Tanzania Breweries Ltd, Cervejas de Moçambique S.A., SABMiller Breweries Pvt. Ltd 
India (fka Fosters India Private Ltd), SKOL Breweries Ltd, The South African Breweries 
Ltd. The first five companies in this list are part of the company‟s Africa business 
segment. They had a combined turnover of £380m in 2008-9, which is 26% of the total 
for that segment. We have assumed that that total figures calculated from this sample 
can be scaled accordingly. 
 
Below is a chart showing the ownership structure and some of the key destinations of 
payments from these companies, which we have assembled from the information in 
various subsidiary accounts: 
 



 
1.Royalty payments 
 
We have identified large royalty payments from all six African companies to a Dutch 
company, SABMiller International BV.  In the most recent financial year for which 
accounts are available for each subsidiary, these payments totalled £24.6m, which we 
have scaled up to a continent-wide estimate of £43m.  
 
Although SABMiller says that the majority of its “key brands...are held and owned by the 
domestic businesses where they are produced and distributed,” ActionAid has identified 
that a large number of trademarks for SABMiller‟s African brands are registered in the 
Netherlands, as well as evidence of trademark ownership being transferred from Africa 
to the Netherlands (Chibuku), and of new brands registered in Ghana on behalf of a 
Dutch SABMiller company (Pony). 
 
The payments will have resulted in tax losses to the governments in each country 
affected, which in each case are the corporation tax rate less the withholding tax rate 
applied on the transaction.  
 
SABMiller International BV‟s accounts show that by using flexible amortisation of 
the costs of acquiring trademarks (mostly from a sister company in 2005) it manages to 
pay very little tax.  The trademarks owned include several that are recognised, and 
promoted, as "African".  The effect is the avoidance of substantial amounts of tax in 
Africa. 
 
2. Management fees 



 
Another major source of tax loss is the payment of management fees by companies in 
developing countries to companies registered in Switzerland and the Netherlands – 
mostly to Bevman Services AG in Zug. Payments from Africa in the most recent years 
for which the information is available amount to £9.7m (scaled to an estimate of £38m) 
and from India £6.9m. The tax loss can be estimated in a similar manner to that for 
royalty fees. 
 
It appears likely that Bevman is taxed at 7.8%, in which case most of the payments it 
receives are unlikely to be taxed further, since withholding taxes are applied at higher 
rates than this. A substantial proportion of the fees Bevman receives seem to end up, 
via a Dutch intermediary, with another Swiss company, SABMiller Europe AG. 
 
You have told us that these payments are “in respect of a variety of services” including 
„financial consulting‟, „personnel strategy‟, „business advisory services‟, „marketing‟, and 
„technical services‟. On visits To Accra Brewery and to the relevant Swiss and Dutch 
addresses, we struggled to find evidence that such services could have been provided 
directly from the Netherlands and Switzerland. In particular, Bevman was not known by 
SABMiller‟s receptionist at the Swiss address, which was described to us on visiting as 
“just the European head office.” We were told by a receptionist at the Rotterdam 
address of the Dutch companies involved (and of 14 SABMiller companies in total) that 
there were just 10 staff at the office "managing the brands".  
 
You have explaining this arrangement to us as follows: “Costs are routed from the 
service-providers to the central management company. The management company, in 
turn charges the operating companies for the services in line with accepted transfer 
pricing principles.” Some of the listed services provided to African subsidiaries appear to 
be supplied from Johannesburg. 
 
3. Procurement 
 
We are also interested in the movement of procurement from the African hub in 
Johannesburg (Sabex) to Mauritius (Mubex).  To state the obvious, it is 
geographically inconvenient and doesn't take delivery of goods.  When we called 
the company's office we were told that there were just 15 people working at the 
company, "mostly on the job training". Our research indicates that MUBEX is likely to be 
taxed at around 3%, which suggests a) that its location is motivated at least in part by 
tax planning, and b) that there is a large incentive to divert profits from 'normal' tax rate 
countries to Mauritius by adjusting transfer prices, which can be accomplished while 
staying within the arm‟s length range. 
 
Companies using MUBEX for procurement, notably in Ghana and Tanzania, reported 
significant falls in gross profit rate as soon as they began to use MUBEX for 
procurement. Tax losses from the use of Mubex cannot be assumed or estimated with 
accuracy, but it is possible that a proportion of this fall in gross profit is a result of an 
increase in prices to take advantage of Mubex‟s tax position. 



 
We obtained 2009-10 accounts for four African companies with a total turnover of 
£265m, and identified payments of £31m to Mubex. Based on this we estimate that 
Mubex may have been responsible for procurement of as much as £150m for the Africa 
business segment in that financial year. 
 
4. Thin capitalisation 
 
In the specific case of Accra Brewery Ltd, the company has become very 'thinly 
capitalised' following a large loan from Mubex to pay off accrued bills. The loan exceeds 
seven times Accra Brewery‟s equity. It‟s unlikely the brewery could have secured such a 
loan from a third party, and unclear why the company‟s accounts show that it is claiming 
the full tax benefit from the interest costs, when the debt-equity ratio exceeds the upper 
ceiling in Ghanaian thin capitalisation law. 
 
We estimate that the annual interest costs will amount to £445,000. These payments 
will have the effect of suppressing future tax payments, a tax loss which can be 
calculated using the difference between the Ghanaian corporate income tax rate and 
the withholding tax rate on interest payments. 
 
5. Total income tax paid in the Africa business segment 
 
SABMiller‟s segment reporting does not appear to include a breakdown of income tax 
payments by segment. We have therefore estimated a figure by applying the group‟s 
28.5% effective tax rate to its $316m operating profit before exceptional items in 2010, 
giving an estimated income tax charge of $90m. 
 
We would be interested to know if SABMiller has estimated the reduction in this charge 
as a result of its tax planning arrangements in Africa, or indeed in India and South 
Africa. 
 
6. Losses to local shareholders 
 
The offshore payments described in 1-4 above end up in companies wholly owned by 
SABMiller. Meanwhile, in the case of a number of subsidiaries, a significant proportion 
is owned locally. For example, until recently 11% of Accra Breweries was owned by the 
Social Security and National Insurance Trust. Reduced profits are also likely to have 
reduced these shareholders‟ dividends, by an amount that can be estimated as these 
shareholders‟ proportion of the reduction in profits, after the tax saving estimated earlier. 
 
7. Unprofitable companies 
 
Accra Brewery, SABMiller Breweries Pvt. Ltd and SKOL Breweries Ltd have been 
unprofitable in recent years, and as a result have not paid any income tax (Accra 
brewery, for example, paid no income tax in three of the past four years). You have 
explained to us that Accra Brewery‟s poor profitability is a result of “the intensely 



competitive nature of the local market, escalating input costs and a recent increase in 
excise tax which has depressed consumer demand,” and that in the Indian companies‟ 
case they “relate primarily to the investment being made by the business ahead of 
anticipated growth in the beer industry, and to the substantial burden currently placed 
on our operations by excessive government regulation”. However, without the 
management fee and royalty payments described above, these companies would have 
been profitable. 
 
8. Remittance of profits 
 
SABMiller employs a number of well-established techniques, including upstream loans 
and profit importation schemes, to ensure that low-taxed profits are sent back to the 
corporate centre in the UK without attracting a UK tax charge that would otherwise arise 
(at least under tax laws for some of the years we looked at).  Corporate tax payments in 
the UK are consequently very small. 
 
The clearest example is revealed in the accounts for the Dutch company SABMiller 
Finance BV.  Immediately it transferred its trademarks to SABMiller International BV in 
2005, SABMiller Finance BV became UK tax resident, enabling it to pay out its 
accumulated profits to SABMiller plc as a dividend in 2009. This appears to have 
escaped any UK tax, since dividends from UK companies are tax-exempt for other UK 
companies. 
 
We look forward to receiving any comments or additional information by 5pm on 
Thursday 11th November. 
 
Best wishes, 
Martin 
 
--- 
Martin Hearson 
Policy Adviser 
Economic & Social Development Team 
  
ActionAid UK 
33-39 Bowling Green Lane 
London EC1R 0BJ 
United Kingdom 
 


